
 
 
 
 

11/12/25 Final 

AGENDA 
 

WAUKEGAN PORT DISTRICT 
Board Meeting of 19 November 2025 4:00 p.m. 

Waukegan National Airport 
Administration Office/SRE Bldg. 

2601 Plane Rest Drive 
Waukegan IL 60087 

 
Call to Order 

Roll Call 

Pledge of Allegiance    

Announcement of Remote Participants 

Approval of Remote Participation/Voting  

Chairman Remarks  

General Counsel Report 

Public Comment – (3 minutes per person) 

Committee Reports 
• Airport – Tom Evers, Ben Veal and Bob Hamilton 
• Development – Ben Veal and Greg Petry 
• Capital Improvement – Paula Trigg and Jack Dye 
• Harbor – Gene Bach and Becky Jones 
• Intergovernmental - Greg Petry and Tom Evers 
• Finance – Bob Hamilton, Becky Jones and Paula Trigg 

Consent Agenda 
• September 2025, Electronic Transfer and Check Approval  
• September 2025, Financials 
• October 2025, Meeting Minutes  

Agenda 

• Approval of Closed Session Minutes –October 15, 2025 

 
Airport General Manager Remarks 

• 2025-O-02 Ordinance Amending Airport User Fee (Customs Overtime Fee and T-Hangers) 
 

Harbor General Manager Remarks 
 

Board Comments  
 

Adjournment  

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Chairman’s Remarks 

 
 
  
  



Committee Reports 



 
 

 
Treasurer & Finance Report 

 
 

  



(847) 244-3133 • Fax (847) 244-1348

55S Harbor Place 

Waukegan. IL  60085 
waukeganport.com 

Professionally managed by: 

Finance Committee Report 

To: WPD Chairman and Board of Directors 

From: Bob Hamilton, Chairman 

Date: 11-11-2025   Happy Veteran’s Day 

Re: Finance Committee 
September Check & Financial Review for the November Bd Mtg 

Procedure: 
All three Transfer and Check Registers and Financials were submitted directly to Becky Jones, 
Paula Trigg, and Bob Hamilton for review.  (Lagging one month) 

All were received and have been submitted to the Committee.  (Paula was out of the Country, so 
may review and comment upon returning.)   

The Committee recommends approval of all, subject to any findings in the next week. 

Note:  The Harbor cash positions are decreasing significantly.  Joe will address the proposed 
approach to reversing this trend at the Board meeting in his report.  He’s on it! 

Recommendation: 

Approve SEPT All three Check Registers at the NOV Meeting 
Approve SEPT All three Financials at the NOV Meeting. 

By:  _______________________________ 
Robert B. Hamilton,    
Finance Committee Chairman 



 
 
 
 

Consent Agenda 
 

  



 
 
 
 

1 
 

 
MINUTES 

 
WAUKEGAN PORT DISTRICT 

Board Meeting of 15 October 2025 
4:00 p.m. 

Waukegan National Airport 
Administration Office/SRE Bldg. 

2601 Plane Rest Drive 
Waukegan IL 60087 

 
The following Board Members were present: 

Gene Bach 
Jack Dye 

Becky Jones 
Greg Petry 
Paula Trigg 

 
The following Board Members were absent: 

Tom Evers  
Ben Veal 

 
The following Officer was present: 

Bob Hamilton, Treasurer 
 

District Counsel: 
Marcus Martinez 

 
Members of the Port District Staff were present: 

Edith Guerrero, F3 Airport, Administrative Director, Airport 
Joe Seidelmann, F3 Marina, General Manager, Marina 

Skip Goss, F3 Airport, Director, Airport 
Rebecca Remshak, F3 Real Estate Services, Marina Accountant-remote 

 
 

Call to Order 

Chairman Dye called the meeting to order at 4:02 p.m. 

Roll Call 

Roll call was taken. 

Pledge of Allegiance    

The Pledge of Allegiance was recited. 



 
 
 
 

2 
 

Announcement of Remote Participants 

Approval of Remote Participation/Voting  

There were no remote participants; no approval was necessary. 

Chairman Remarks  

Chairman Dye reported that he, Member Hamilton, and staff met with the Waukegan Airport Pilots 
Association to discuss upcoming lease terminations and long-term planning. The meeting was 
productive, and all parties agreed to work together to finalize the airport’s ten-year capital plan and 
determine financial needs for infrastructure improvements. No policy changes were made at this time. 
The Airport Committee will continue discussions with the Pilots Association as more information 
becomes available. 

General Counsel Report 

District Counsel Martinez provided an update on the status of F Pier Two survey proposals were 
received from National Due Diligence Services: one for approximately $12,000 and another for $7,000. 
There was a major discrepancy between the two regarding the acreage (4 acres vs. 2.3 acres). Counsel 
will review this with staff. Discussion followed about possibly engaging a local surveying firm for better 
pricing and familiarity with the property. 

Public Comment – (3 minutes per person) 

No public comments were made. 
 
Committee Reports 

• Airport – Tom Evers, Ben Veal and Bob Hamilton - Recent meeting held with staff to discuss 
long-term financial and operational planning. Awaiting financial data before addressing lease 
renewals and airport policy updates. No further meetings scheduled yet. 
 

• Development – Ben Veal and Greg Petry – No report. Plan to meet with Ben and the Mayor to 
discuss upcoming initiatives. 
 

• Capital Improvement – Paula Trigg and Jack Dye – Phone meeting held with consultant on the 
commercial harbor wall project. The District is awaiting proper documentation for 
reimbursement from the State before paying additional consultant invoices. Consultant instructed 
to focus on correcting paperwork and preparing for the upcoming dredging contract. Draft 
reports were submitted for review: (1) building architectural assessment, (2) underwater wall 
inspection, and (3) soil borings. One notable issue found: a structural separation in the wall likely 
dating back to original installation; repairs will be necessary. Project goal: dredging in spring 
2026 and wall construction in summer 2026. 



 
 
 
 

3 
 

• Harbor – Gene Bach and Becky Jones – Discussed dredging coordination with Capital 
Committee. Reviewed budget impacts and slip fee proposal for next year. An underwater 
contractor damaged a section of EPA-installed concrete matting; further inspection is underway. 
 

• Intergovernmental - Greg Petry and Tom Evers – None 
 

• Finance – Bob Hamilton, Becky Jones and Paula Trigg – First budget committee meeting was 
held earlier the same day. Next meeting scheduled for mid-November. Financials for July, 
August, and September are now up to date following air show delays. Recommendation: approve 
all financials. 
 

Consent Agenda 
• July 2025, Financials – Airport/Customs 
• July 2025, Electronic Transfer and Check Approval – Airport/Customs 
• August 2025, Financials 
• August 2025, Electronic Transfer and Check Approval 
• September 2025, Meeting Minutes 

 
On a motion by Member Jones, seconded by Member Bach, the consent agenda was created and 
approved on a unanimous roll call vote: 
Aye: Bach, Jones, Petry, Trigg 
Nay: 
Absent: Evers, Veal 
Abstain: 
 
Agenda 
 

• Approval of September 17, 2025 Closed Session Meeting Minutes - Board deferred approval 
pending further discussion in closed session. 

Airport General Manager Remarks 
 
FBO RFP being reissued this week. Engineering Services RFQ three proposals received; selection 
process underway. Transportation Improvement Program - Presented five-year plan to IDOT. 
Disappointed with lack of FY2025 grant awards. Fence Phase is delayed since 2021 due to IDOT and 
environmental issues; project now moving forward with construction anticipated winter 2025–26.  

Replacement Runway Program update was provided by Mr. Louden. Draft Environmental Assessment 
(EA) to be submitted to FAA by October 17, 2025. An agreement was reached with Forest Preserve 
District and FAA to post environmental data publicly on the airport website. Public hearing planned for 
May 2026. The FAA and Forest Preserve District are satisfied with collaborative process. 



 
 
 
 

4 
 

911 Call Center and community updates were provided by Signature Flight Support’s Chris Whyles. 
City’s 911 Center expected to be operational mid-November. Generator hookup scheduled this Friday; 
minimal power interruption expected. Signature Flight Support contributed $25,000 toward the 
building’s fire suppression system. Successful charity partnership during the Air Show raised over 
$5,000 for animal welfare groups, with Retriever Air providing $16,000 in travel vouchers and free 
animal transport services. 

 
• 2025-R-20 Authorizing Termination of Existing Avigation Easement (Lake County Forest 

Preserve) 
 
The District holds outdated air rights easements over Forest Preserve land dating to the 1960s. 
Discussion held on whether to rescind immediately or negotiate updated easements. Consensus was to 
table the item and pursue discussions to modernize and bundle it with future agreements following 
completion of the Environmental Assessment. 

Harbor General Manager Remarks 
Mr. Seidelmann provided the board with an update on current marina operations including Seasonal 
water shutdown begins October 20. Staffing adjustments underway for 2026. Continuing lease 
negotiations with Big Lake Marine and other tenants. Preparing marketing plan targeting local boaters to 
be presented next month. Investigating potential damage to EPA-installed concrete mat from a 
subcontractor; discussions ongoing regarding responsibility. Dredging expected before 2026 boating 
season; design work not required to proceed. Recommendation: No increase in slip fees for 2026 except 
for removal of one-time 48th anniversary discount. 

• 2025-R-21 Approving 2026 Fees and Charges for Harbor Marina 

On a motion by Member Bach, seconded by Member Jones, the motion was approved on a unanimous 

roll call vote:  

Aye: Bach, Jones, Petry, Trigg 
Nay:  
Absent: Evers, Veal 
Abstain: 

 
Board Comments  
Board Members expressed support for holding the next meeting at the Harbor. There was 
encouragement to pursue outstanding leases and underused spaces. 

Closed Session  

The Board entered closed session at 4:49 p.m. to discuss pending litigation pursuant to §120/2(c)(11) of 
the Illinois Open Meetings Act. 



 
 
 
 

5 
 

On a motion by Member Bach, seconded by Member Petry, the motion carried by unanimous voice 
vote. 

At 5:09 p.m., the Board reconvened in open session on a motion by Member Trigg, seconded by 
Member Jones, approved by unanimous roll call vote. 

The board reconvened to open session to have board conversation around leases and licenses: 

The Board reviewed key issues related to lease management, tenant oversight, and contractor 
performance. Legal counsel clarified the distinctions between leases and licenses—highlighting that 
leases require formal eviction while licenses can be revoked more easily. The board will consider all 
options pending a written legal analysis. 

Members emphasized stronger financial controls, including reinstating personal guarantees in future 
leases and improving lease tracking. A comprehensive report from staff was requested to detail current 
tenants, payments, expirations, and delinquencies. F3’s management performance was discussed.  

Several action items were discussed, including: 

• Engage a collection firm for delinquent account. 
• Draft the internal lease default memo. 
• Receive counsel’s lease vs. license analysis. 
• Obtain full lease and payment reports. 

Adjournment 

On a motion by Member Trigg seconded by Member Jones, the meeting was adjourned on a unanimous 
voice vote at 5:26 pm. 

APPROVED: 

 

 

_____________________________ 

 Chairman 



 Agenda 



Closed session meeting minutes from September 17, 2025 will be 
provided at the meeting for review .



 
 
 
 

Harbor General Manager 
Report 

 
 
 

  



                  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
 
 

WAUKEGAN HARBOR 
FINANCIALS  

MONTHLY 
FINANCIAL  
REPORT 

September  
2025 

 

PREPARED FOR: 
W a uk e ga n  Po r t  D i s t r i c t  B o ar d 

 

PREPARED BY:  
R e b e c c a  R em s h ak  

 

55 S Harbor Pl 
Waukegan, IL 60085 



 

PREPARED BY F3 MARINA 

13400 Bishops Lane Suite 190, Brookfield, WI  53005   |   414. 271.1111   |   www.f3marina.com   |   2 
v2023.01 

  M o n t h l y  M a r i n a  O w n e r  R e p o r t  

 
 
 
 
 
CONTACT INFORMATION 
 

MARINA MANAGER 
Joe Seidelmann 
847-244-3133 
jseldelmann@waukeganport.com  

 
MARINA ACCOUNTANT 
Rebecca Remshak 
414-550-9336 
rremshak@f3marina.com 
  
DIRECTOR OF MARINA OPERATIONS 
Hunter Spitler 
414-299-9291 
hspitler@f3marina.com 

 
DIRECTOR OF MARINA ACCOUNTING 
Adam Buerger 
414-249-2169 
abuerger@f3marina.com 
 
HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGER 
Tricia Burlage 
414-249-2139 
trbulage@founders3.com 
 
MARKETING SPECIALIST 
Dani Broberg 
414-249-2157 
dbroberg@founders3.com 
 

 

 
 
  

http://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwjX45n7k7vUAhVGYiYKHbHrBG0QjRwIBw&url=http://www.ticpropertiesmanagement.com/pages/news/default.aspx&psig=AFQjCNFkGfLA9VRHGIm5LSYLn_azvjLyNw&ust=1497454787403150
mailto:jseldelmann@waukeganport.com
mailto:rremshak@f3marina.com
mailto:hspitler@f3marina.com
mailto:abuerger@f3marina.com
mailto:trbulage@founders3.com
mailto:dbroberg@founders3.com


 

PREPARED BY F3 MARINA 

13400 Bishops Lane Suite 190, Brookfield, WI  53005   |   414. 271.1111   |   www.f3marina.com   |   3 
v2023.01 

  M o n t h l y  M a r i n a  O w n e r  R e p o r t  

 
 
 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

 
PROPERTY GOALS 

Goal Completion 

Repair and adjustment of South Pier dock system In progress 

Repair of wall and siding on Harbor control building In progress 

Renovation of ship store In progress 
Renovation of public restrooms Complete 
Integrate QuickBooks Online and MarinaGo In Progress 

  

http://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwjX45n7k7vUAhVGYiYKHbHrBG0QjRwIBw&url=http://www.ticpropertiesmanagement.com/pages/news/default.aspx&psig=AFQjCNFkGfLA9VRHGIm5LSYLn_azvjLyNw&ust=1497454787403150


 

PREPARED BY F3 MARINA 

13400 Bishops Lane Suite 190, Brookfield, WI  53005   |   414. 271.1111   |   www.f3marina.com   |   4 
v2023.01 

  M o n t h l y  M a r i n a  O w n e r  R e p o r t  

 
 
 
 
 
OCCUPANCY 

 

 
DELINQUENCIES 

Tenant Amount Description 

Big Lake Marine $52,000 Matching outstanding invoices to balance due. Tenant making current 
payments now while previous work in kind is compared. 

Dockside Dogs $16,992.44 Board weighing pros and cons of filing lawsuit for back balance, 
   

TOTAL DELINQUENCIES: $68,992.44  
   

 

 
 
 
 
  

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec
Occupancy-2025 40.00% 45.00% 50.00% 53.00% 56.00% 60.00% 60.00% 61.00% 61.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

70.00%

O
cc

up
an

cy
 %

http://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwjX45n7k7vUAhVGYiYKHbHrBG0QjRwIBw&url=http://www.ticpropertiesmanagement.com/pages/news/default.aspx&psig=AFQjCNFkGfLA9VRHGIm5LSYLn_azvjLyNw&ust=1497454787403150


PREPARED BY F3 MARINA 

13400 Bishops Lane Suite 190, Brookfield, WI  53005   |   414. 271.1111   |   www.f3marina.com   |   5
v2023.01

  M o n t h l y  M a r i n a  O w n e r  R e p o r t 

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW 

NET OPERATING INCOME 

Revenue Gross Profit Expenses NOI Non-OpEx Net Income
Actual $245,575 $209,347 $156,944 $52,403 $(16,976) $35,427
Budgeted $266,500 $231,590 $111,766 $119,824 $(98,848) $20,976
Variance $(20,925) $(22,243) $(45,178) $(67,421) $81,872 $14,451

 $(150,000)

 $(100,000)

 $(50,000)

 $-

 $50,000

 $100,000

 $150,000

 $200,000

 $250,000

 $300,000

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

2025 Actual $(40,235) $(43,871) $(51,759) $74,534 $202,962 $90,224 $105,668 $93,351 $52,403

2025 Budget $(82,067) $(76,317) $(81,845) $108,058 $229,966 $137,697 $132,505 $124,417 $119,824

2024 Actual $(48,529) $(41,102) $(48,687) $77,848 $219,009 $148,726 $103,065 $117,606 $144,155 $131,208 $252,524 $(46,373)

 $(100,000)

 $(50,000)

 $-

 $50,000

 $100,000

 $150,000

 $200,000

 $250,000

 $300,000

N
O

I

http://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwjX45n7k7vUAhVGYiYKHbHrBG0QjRwIBw&url=http://www.ticpropertiesmanagement.com/pages/news/default.aspx&psig=AFQjCNFkGfLA9VRHGIm5LSYLn_azvjLyNw&ust=1497454787403150


 

PREPARED BY F3 MARINA 

13400 Bishops Lane Suite 190, Brookfield, WI  53005   |   414. 271.1111   |   www.f3marina.com   |   6 
v2023.01 

  M o n t h l y  M a r i n a  O w n e r  R e p o r t  

 
 
 
 
 
MONTHLY VARIANCES  

Income Description Variance 

Fuel-Diesel Slower month due to conditions of the lake and less traffic -8,963.70 

Slip Fee Seasonal Income End of season and seasonal slip income will no longer increase -29,108.75 

Launch Fees Poor lake conditions creating less daily launches -4,500 

   

   

 TOTAL INCOME VARIANCE:                      ($21,225.10) – 
92.04% 

   
  
 

Operating Expenses Description Variance 
Electrical Repairs Emergency repairs due to storm. Board has been updated 23,706 
Plumbing Repairs Timing of budget and expenses. No plumbing repair set for September 6,418.86 
Electricity Timing of billing by supplier. 6,652.49 
Advertising Offset by sponsors for event 3,500 
   
   
   
   
   

 
TOTAL OPERATING VARIANCE:               $45,178.23 – 

140.42% 
 

NET OPERATING INCOME (NOI) VARIANCE:   ($67,421.16) – 43.73% 
NET OPERATING INCOME (NOI) YTD VARIANCE: ($265,423.48) – 64.46% 

 
Non-Operating Expenses  Description Variance 

Audit Expense  5,185 

   

 TOTAL NON-OPERATING VARIANCE: $81,872.49 – 17.17% 

 

TOTAL NET INCOME/(LOSS) MONTHLY VARIANCE: $14,451.33 – 168.90% 

 

http://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwjX45n7k7vUAhVGYiYKHbHrBG0QjRwIBw&url=http://www.ticpropertiesmanagement.com/pages/news/default.aspx&psig=AFQjCNFkGfLA9VRHGIm5LSYLn_azvjLyNw&ust=1497454787403150


Airport General Manager 
Report 



4863-3553-9193, v. 3 

WAUKEGAN PORT DISTRICT 

ORDINANCE  2 0 25-O-02 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE 
AIRPORT USER FEE ORDINANCE 

WHEREAS, the Waukegan Port District (“District”) is a political subdivision, body politic, 
and municipal corporation established in accordance with the Waukegan Port District Act, 70 ILCS 
1865/ l, et seq. (“Act”); and 

WHEREAS, the District owns and operates the Waukegan National Airport, a public facility 
(“Airport”), for the purposes of (i) providing modem, safe and efficient landing areas and terminal 
facilities for commercial and general aviation users of the Airport (“Airport Users”); and (ii) offering 
space and opportunities for Airport Users and commercial vendors catering to Airport Users to store, 
maintain, and provide additional ancillary service for aircraft used by Airport Users (collectively, 
“Airport Purposes”); and 

WHEREAS, the Airport and Airway Improvement Act of 1982, 49 U.S.C. 2201, et. seq., 
requires that the District, pursuant to its receipt of Federal grant assistance, maintain a fee and 
rental structure for the facilities and services being provided to Airport Users which will make 
the Airport as self-sustaining as possible; and 

WHEREAS, the District is not empowered to levy an annual tax on real property 
throughout the District as a means of defraying costs of operating, maintaining and administering 
the Airport: and 

WHEREAS, Section 4.8 of the Act authorize the District to "[f]ix, charge and collect 
reasonable rentals, tolls, fees and charges for the use of any public airport, or any part thereof, or 
any public airport facility;" and 

WHEREAS, the regulations of aviation and related activities conducted on and about the 
Airport and the imposition of reasonable fees and charges ("User Fees") for the benefits derived 
from such aviation and related activities are necessary and proper in maintaining the viability of 
the Airport, which inures not only to the welfare of Airport users but also to the general welfare 
of all those persons in Northeastern Illinois; and 

WHEREAS, the Waukegan Port District Board ("Board") has previously adopted 
Ordinance No. 87-O-02 (“Initial Ordinance”), as amended by Ordinance Nos.  19-O-03, 18-
O-01, 09-O-01, 08-O-01, 07-O-04, 06-O-02, 02-O-02, 20-O-02, 2024-O-01, and 2025-O-01
(collectively with the Initial Ordinance, the “User Fee Ordinance”) to set forth the fees at
the Airport; and

WHEREAS, the District has identified the need to update the fees for: (i) annual fueling 
permit; (ii) garbage disposal bags, (iii) overtime charged for Customs Clearance Services; and (iv) 
rental of T-Hangars at the Airport (“Fee Modifications”); and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to amend the User Fee Ordinance to permit the Fee 
Modifications; and 



4863-3553-9193, v. 3 

WHEREAS, the Board has determined that it is in the best interest of the District to further 
amend the User Fee Ordinance; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the Waukegan Port District Board, Lake 
County, Illinois, as follows: 

SECTION 1: RECITALS. The foregoing recitals are incorporated into, and made a part of, 
this Resolution as findings of the Board. 

SECTION 2:  AMENDMENTS TO SECTION 3 OF THE USER FEE SCHEDULE. Section 
3, entitled “Operating Agreement Fees,” of the User Fee Schedule is hereby amended, as follows: (additions are 
bold and double underlined, deletions are stricken through) 

“SECTION III  
OPERATING AGREEMENT FEES 

All General Commercial Aviation Operators, and Fixed Base Operators leasing 
space at the Airport from the District or under a sub-lease with the District's consent, 
shall pay to the District, consistent with the terms of a duly executed Operating 
Agreement, the following operating fees: 

* * *

E. FUEL PERMIT AND FLOWAGE FEES.

* * *
3. Operators of mobile or fixed fueling equipment, having a

lease, Operating Agreement, Fueling Agreement and Fueling Permit permitting the 
distribution of aviation fuels to that Operator's owned or leased Aircraft, based on 
the Airport, shall pay the District an annual fee of $1,000 $4,000 for the Fueling 
Permit. Fueling Permits are not transferable and shall be revoked upon failure of 
the Operator to comply with any provisions of this Ordinance, or any lease, 
Operating Agreement, or Fueling Agreement. 

F. U.S. CUSTOM CLEARANCE SERVICE FEES. The District will 
provide U.S. Customs and Border Protection International Clearance Services for the 
following fees: 

CUSTOMS CLEARANCE SERVICE FEE SCHEDULE 
U.S. CUSTOMS SERVICE 

* * *

ABOVE WEIGHTS REFER TO GROSS MAXIMUM LANDING WEIGHT 
INTERNATIONAL 

GARBAGE BAG DISPOSAL: $185.00 $200.00 PER BAG 

REGULAR HOURS ARE FROM 11AM UNTIL 7PM (CST), MONDAY 
THROUGH FRIDAY (NO OVERTIME CHARGED). 



4863-3553-9193, v. 3 

OVERTIME: $650.00 $750.00 
(OVERTIME IS CHARGED FOR ANY HOURS OUTSIDE OF REGULAR HOURS, 
INCLUDING BEFORE & AFTER THE REGULAR HOURS, WEEKENDS AND ON 
ALL FEDERAL HOLIDAYS.)” 

SECTION 3. AMENDMENT TO SECTION 5 OF THE USER FEE SCHEDULE. Section 5, 
entitled “Fees for Aircraft Parking or Tie Down on General Aviation Use Ramps,” of the User Fee Schedule is 
hereby amended, as follows: (additions are bold and double underlined, deletions are stricken through) 

“SECTION V 
FEES FOR AIRCRAFT PARKING 

OR TIE DOWN ON GENERAL AVIATION USE RAMPS 

On General Aviation Public Use Ramps, all persons operating General 
Aviation Aircraft, General Aviation Itinerant Aircraft, itinerant, and Non-Signatory 
Air Carrier Aircraft (except Military Aircraft and Public Aircraft) shall pay parking 
fees or tie down fees to the District directly, or through its FBO, pursuant to the 
following schedule: 

* * *

D. FEES FOR DISTRICT OWNED T-HANGARS. The rental fee for large T-
Hangars shall be five hundred fifty six hundred dollars ($550.00 $600.00) per month, plus 
all utilities, payable to the District.” 

SECTION 4: EFFECTIVE DATE. This Ordinance will be in full force and effect as of 
January 1, 2026. 

PASSED this 19th day of November 2025. 

APPROVED this 19th day of November, 2025. 

VOTE: AYES  NAYS  ABSENT 

__________________________ 
Chairman  



` 
 

Waukegan National Airport 
2601  P lane  Rest  Dr i ve  
Waukegan,  IL  60087 

Monthly Airport Executive Summary 
Per iod  End ing :   9 /30 /2025 .  

Monthly Airport  Execut ive Summary

P R E P A R E D  B Y  F | 3  A v i a t i o n  
2 5 2  E a s t  H i g h l a n d  A v e n u e  M i l w a u k e e ,  W I  5 3 2 0 2  T    4 1 4 . 2 7 1 . 1 1 1 1  F    4 1 4 . 2 4 9 . 2 1 5 5  w w w . f 3 - a v i a t i o n . c o m  

 

 
                                                  

hhttps://www.google.com/maps/place/2601+W+Plane+Rest+Dr,+Waukegan,+IL+60087/@42.416305,-87.870386,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m5!3m4!1s0x880f8cd9197bfbc3:0x8a9b08fd44aecc2f!8m2!3d42.416305!4d-87.868192
hhttps://www.google.com/maps/place/2601+W+Plane+Rest+Dr,+Waukegan,+IL+60087/@42.416305,-87.870386,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m5!3m4!1s0x880f8cd9197bfbc3:0x8a9b08fd44aecc2f!8m2!3d42.416305!4d-87.868192


 
 

` 
 P R E P A R E D  B Y  F | 3  A v i a t i o n  

2 5 2  E a s t  H i g h l a n d  A v e n u e  M i l w a u k e e ,  W I  5 3 2 0 2   T    4 1 4 . 2 7 1 . 1 1 1 1  F    4 1 4 . 2 4 9 . 2 1 5 5  w w w . f 3 - a v i a t i o n . c o m  

Monthly Airport  Execut ive Summary 
Property Goals 

 
General Manager Report 

 
• 6,000’ Replacement Runway Condensed Environmental Assessment Underway.  

o The environmental report is available on our website for download 
• FBO RFO deadlines have been paused.  
• Engineering Consultant up for 5-year renewal.  SOQs under evaluation 
• Finance and accounting analysis continues on airport 10-year financial proforma. 
• Airport committee effort continues on policy options for tenant lease renewals and extensions 

 
 

 

Accountant Comments 
 

• Current financial position is stable.  
• The 2025 net operating income is projected to be $143k higher than budgeted. 
• Additional revenues needed to operate as a competitive, growing, professional, well-run, safe, 

and serviceable airport. FAA AIP grant funding is increasingly threatened.  Financial self-
sustainability to be the priority. 

 
 

 

  

 

 

Goal Status 
1. Replacement RWY 5/23 Program  

a. New Aviation Forecast 
b. Create New Air, Water, and Noise Quality Data 
c. Runway Program EA Public Information Meeting 
d. Anticipated FONSI Q4 2026 
e. $25M State Grant 

2. FBO Master Lease Expires 09/30/2026 

1. FAA Directed EA Update 
a. Approved Q3 2025 
b. Q4 2025 
c. Q3 2026 
d. Funding negotiations begin. 
e. Reappropriated in 2025   

2. Proposal deadlines paused. 
  



 

 

Monthly Airport  Execut ive Summary 

P R E P A R E D  B Y  F | 3  A v i a t i o n  
2 5 2  E a s t  H i g h l a n d  A v e n u e  M i l w a u k e e ,  W I  5 3 2 0 2   T    4 1 4 . 2 7 1 . 1 1 1 1  F    4 1 4 . 2 4 9 . 2 1 5 5  w w w . f 3 - a v i a t i o n . c o m  

NET OPERATING INCOME (NOI) COMPARISON CURRENT YEAR VS LAST YEAR 

 

 ACTUAL VS. BUDGET COMPARISON (CURRENT MONTH) 

 

 

Revenue Expenses NOI

Actual $177,392 $97,474 $79,918

Budgeted $144,768 $123,558 $21,210

Variance $32,624 $(26,084) $58,708

 $(50,000)

 $-

 $50,000

 $100,000

 $150,000

 $200,000

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

2025 105,421 1,738 41,672 14,255 57,838 27,361 112,170 44,450 79,917

2024 143,447 13,742 37,560 4,572 26,405 22,413 97,578 -4,874 37,222

-20,000

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

120,000

140,000

160,000

N
et

 O
pe

ra
tin

g 
In

co
m

e 
(N

O
I)



 

 

Monthly Airport  Execut ive Summary 

P R E P A R E D  B Y  F | 3  A v i a t i o n  
2 5 2  E a s t  H i g h l a n d  A v e n u e  M i l w a u k e e ,  W I  5 3 2 0 2   T    4 1 4 . 2 7 1 . 1 1 1 1  F    4 1 4 . 2 4 9 . 2 1 5 5  w w w . f 3 - a v i a t i o n . c o m  

September 2025 Operating Income/Expense Variance Highlights 
• Income: 

• Actual revenues exceeded the budget by 23% primarily due to timing of lease revenues and percentage of 
gross sales.  

• Expense: 
• The actual expenses were 79% of budget.  The primary expenses under budget for the month were payroll 

and maintenance.  Expenses are expected to equalize to budget through the year   
 

 



 

 

Waukegan National Airport 
2601  P lane  Rest  Dr i ve                                                        
Waukegan,  IL  60087 
 
Monthly Customs Executive Summary 
Per iod  End ing :   9 /30 /2025 .  

Monthly Customs Execut ive Summary 
 

 
    
 
 

 
    
   

 
                                                                                                          
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

hhttps://www.google.com/maps/place/2601+W+Plane+Rest+Dr,+Waukegan,+IL+60087/@42.416305,-87.870386,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m5!3m4!1s0x880f8cd9197bfbc3:0x8a9b08fd44aecc2f!8m2!3d42.416305!4d-87.868192
hhttps://www.google.com/maps/place/2601+W+Plane+Rest+Dr,+Waukegan,+IL+60087/@42.416305,-87.870386,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m5!3m4!1s0x880f8cd9197bfbc3:0x8a9b08fd44aecc2f!8m2!3d42.416305!4d-87.868192


Property Goals 
Goal Status 

1. Breakeven Service Provided by Airport
2. Build maintenance reserve
3. Maintenance and cleaning 

1. Fees adjusted as necessary
2. Fees adjusted as necessary
3. On Going

General Manager Report 

• New ordinance increased fees to balance expenses and provide for a maintenance reserve

Accountant Comments 

• Net operating income goal is to be breakeven.

Monthly Customs Execut ive Summary



 PROJECT PROGRESS REPORT  
 

WAUKEGAN NATIONAL AIRPORT  1 
 

PROJECT Completion of a Master Plan, Airport Layout Plan and Environmental Assessment 

 

CMT NO. 18022602.00 
REPORTING 

PERIOD 
Thru November 7, 2025 

PREVIOUS WORK 

1. N/A 

UPCOMING WORK 

1. Coordination with IDA on reimbursement for WPD local 
funds spent on this project. 

WPD ACTION/APPROVALS 

1. N/A 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BUDGET 

Original CMT Contract:  $639,950 
Revised CMT Contract:  $896,950 
Locally Funded 

EXTRA WORK ITEMS 

CMT has exceeded our revised 
contract amount in April 2021.  
Additional delays in FAA reviews, 
FAA policy changes and additional 
LCFPD coordination have led to the 
overage. 

 

SCHEDULE/DELIVERABLE STATUS 

Project Start/Notice 
to Proceed 

August 2018 

Original Completion 
Date 

October 2020 

Revised Completion 
Date 

N/A – FAA directed UGN/CMT to re-
start the project. 

Causes of Delay Per FAA direction, a new project to 
complete the EA is underway. 

100%

PERCENT BUDGET 

EXPENDED



 PROJECT PROGRESS REPORT  
 

WAUKEGAN NATIONAL AIRPORT  2 
 

PROJECT Perimeter Fence – Phase 5 (Design Phase) 

 

CMT NO. 19022602.00 
REPORTING 

PERIOD 
Thru November 7, 2025 

 

PREVIOUS WORK 

1. June 13, 2025 IDOT Letting.  One contractor bid and the bid 
was within the Engineer’s estimate and appears to be able to 
be awarded.  Award package sent to contractor by IDA. 

UPCOMING WORK 

1. Project award. 

WPD ACTION/APPROVALS 

1. CMT contract amendment approved. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

SCHEDULE/DELIVERABLE STATUS  

Project Design 
Schedule 

1.  Project originally let in April, 2021 but 
not awarded by IDA 
2.  Project delayed by Endangered Species 
changes and Biological Assessment and 
has been paused since 2022 
3.  Revised Final Submittal Due February 
28, 2025 
4.  June 13, 2025 IDOT Letting 

Causes of 
Delay 

N/A 

BUDGET 

CMT Contract:  $78,400 
Total Project: $899,000 
Funded 90% Federal, 5% State, 
5% Local (F/S/L) 

EXTRA WORK ITEMS 

Work associated with various 
project rebids has caused CMT to 
exceed our initial contract fee.  
CMT submitted an amendment 
request to the IDOT-Division of 
Aeronautics (IDA) in July 2025.  
The amendment was approved by 
IDA in August 2025.  The 
amendment will be paid at 90% 
Federal, 5% State and 5% Local.  

 

100%

PERCENT COMPLETE

PROJECT WORK AREA 

 



 PROJECT PROGRESS REPORT  
 

WAUKEGAN NATIONAL AIRPORT  3 
 

PROJECT WORK AREA 

 
 

PROJECT Rehabilitate Airfield Lighting Phases 1 & 2 (Construction Phase) 

 

CMT NO. 20022602.06 
REPORTING 

PERIOD 
Thru November 7, 2025 

 

PREVIOUS WORK 

1. Punch List 
2. Landscaping 

UPCOMING WORK 

1. Project Close Out 

WPD ACTION/APPROVALS 

1. CMT Construction Phase Services Amendment approved in 

June 2024.  Once complete at IDA, it will be paid at 90% 

Federal, 5% State and 5% Local. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SCHEDULE  

Project Start December 16, 2021 

Substantial Completion 
Date 

Fall/Winter 2022 

Project Completion 
Date 

Spring 2023 

BUDGET 

CMT Contract:  $363,400 
Total Project: $4,475,369 

Funded 100% Federal 

EXTRA WORK ITEMS 

This project was substantially 
completed in fall 2022 with punch 
list and final landscaping and site 
restoration to occur in Spring 
2023.  The Contractor spent 
nearly a month longer than 
anticipated on final landscaping 
and site restoration.  CMT 
submitted an amendment 
request to IDOT-Division of 
Aeronautics (IDA) in September 
2023.  A potential amendment 
would be paid at 90% Federal, 5% 
State and 5% Local 
 

 

113%

PERCENT COMPLETE



 PROJECT PROGRESS REPORT  
 

WAUKEGAN NATIONAL AIRPORT  4 
 

PROJECT WORK AREA 

 

PROJECT Obstruction Removal – Phase 3 (Construction Phase) 

 

CMT NO. 21004101.06 
REPORTING 

PERIOD 
Thru November 7, 2025 

 

PREVIOUS WORK 

1. Tree Removal and Stump Grinding 
2. Initial Landscaping  
3. Site Restoration and Final Landscaping 

UPCOMING WORK 

1. Lake County SMC Wetland Coordination 
2. Continued punchlist landscaping 

WPD ACTION/APPROVALS 

1. Timeline TBD for potential CMT contract amendment. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SCHEDULE  

Project Start March 2023 

Substantial Completion 
Date 

July 2023 

Project Completion 
Date 

TBD 

BUDGET 

CMT Contract:  $87,400 
Total Project: $1,550,000 

Funded 90% Federal, 5% State, 
5% Local 

EXTRA WORK ITEMS 

Coordination with Lake County 
SMC and incorporation of LCSMC 
directed project improvements 
significantly exceeded initial 
scope assumptions and caused 
CMT to exceed our contract fee.  
CMT intends to pursue an 
amendment with IDOT-Division of 
Aeronautics (IDA).  A potential 
amendment would be paid at 
90% Federal, 5% State and 5% 
Local. 
 

 

100%

PERCENT COMPLETE



 PROJECT PROGRESS REPORT  
 

WAUKEGAN NATIONAL AIRPORT  5 
 

PROJECT Environmental Assessment – Phase 2 – Biological Assessment 

 

CMT NO. 22004269.00 
REPORTING 

PERIOD 
Thru November 7, 2025 

PREVIOUS WORK 

1. Conservation Measures 
2. Draft Biological Assessment Submitted to FAA for Review 
3. Coordination with USFWS and FAA 
4. Project completed – no additional WPD funds will be spent 

UPCOMING WORK 

1. Coordinate with IDA on reimbursement of previously spent 
WPD funds. 

WPD ACTION/APPROVALS 

None at this time. 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

BUDGET 

CMT Contract:  $397,000 
Locally Funded 

EXTRA WORK ITEMS 

None at this time.  Approximately 
$20,000 of CMT effort was moved 
to a federally funded project. 

 

SCHEDULE/DELIVERABLE STATUS 

Project Start/Notice 
to Proceed 

May 2022 

Original Completion 
Date 

March 2023 

Causes of Delay N/A 

32%

PERCENT COMPLETE



 PROJECT PROGRESS REPORT  
 

WAUKEGAN NATIONAL AIRPORT  6 
 

PROJECT WORK AREA 

 

PROJECT Rehabilitate South Hangar Pavements – Phase 1 (Construction Phase) 

 

CMT NO. 21004113.06 
REPORTING 

PERIOD 
Thru November 7, 2025 

 

PREVIOUS WORK 

1. Continued subgrade preparation  
2. Aggregate base course 
3. Asphalt paving 

UPCOMING WORK 

1. Final Inspection  
2. Project Closeout 

WPD ACTION/APPROVALS 

None at this time.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SCHEDULE  

Project Start August 1, 2024 

Substantial Completion 
Date 

Pavements opened to traffic in 
October 2024 

Project Completion 
Date 

Spring 2025 

BUDGET 

CMT Contract:  $109,275 
Total Project: $498,000 

Funded 90% Federal, 5% State, 
5% Local 

EXTRA WORK ITEMS 

None at this time. 
 

 

100%

PERCENT COMPLETE



 PROJECT PROGRESS REPORT  
 

WAUKEGAN NATIONAL AIRPORT  7 
 

PROJECT WORK AREA 

 

PROJECT Rehabilitate East Apron (Construction Phase) 

 

CMT NO. 22004512.06 
REPORTING 

PERIOD 
Thru November 7, 2025 

 

PREVIOUS WORK 

1. Pavement Marking 
2. Punch List 

UPCOMING WORK 

1. Project Closeout 

WPD ACTION/APPROVALS 

None at this time.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SCHEDULE  

Project Start August 5, 2024 

Substantial Completion 
Date 

Opened to Traffic in early 
December.   

Project Completion 
Date 

Minor work items in Spring 2025 

Causes of Delay Contractor difficulties in obtaining 
subgrade compaction delayed the 
project critical path. 

BUDGET 

CMT Contract:  $192,235 
Total Project: $2,568,000 

Funded 90% Federal, 5% State, 
5% Local 

EXTRA WORK ITEMS 

Additional CMT effort and 
subconsultant construction 
material testing was required to 
assist with compaction of existing 
subgrade.  CMT has exceeded our 
contract fee before project 
completion.  CMT submitted a 
draft amendment to IDOT-
Division of Aeronautics (IDA) in 
May 2025 for review.  A potential 
amendment would be paid at 
90% Federal, 5% State and 5% 
Local.  Amendment timing TBD. 
 

 

121%

PERCENT COMPLETE



 PROJECT PROGRESS REPORT  
 

WAUKEGAN NATIONAL AIRPORT  8 
 

PROJECT WORK AREA 

 

PROJECT Rehabilitate Main Parking Lot (Construction Phase) 

 

CMT NO. 22004938.06 
REPORTING 

PERIOD 
Thru November 7, 2025 

 

PREVIOUS WORK 

1. Final Inspection 
2. Punch List 

UPCOMING WORK 

1. Project Closeout 

WPD ACTION/APPROVALS 

None at this time.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SCHEDULE  

Project Start June 16, 2025 

Substantial Completion 
Date 

Opened to Traffic on July 2, 2025 

Project Completion 
Date 

Fall 2025 

Causes of Delay N/A 

BUDGET 

CMT Contract:  $62,427.58 
Total Project: $468,046 

Funded with BIL AIG funds: 90% 
Federal, 5% State, 5% Local 

EXTRA WORK ITEMS 

None at this time. 
 

 

100%

PERCENT COMPLETE



 PROJECT PROGRESS REPORT  
 

WAUKEGAN NATIONAL AIRPORT  9 
 

PROJECT WORK AREA 

 

PROJECT Rehabilitate South Hangar Pavements – Phase 2 (Design Phase) 

 

CMT NO. 24006440.00 
REPORTING 

PERIOD 
Thru November 7, 2025 

 

PREVIOUS WORK 

1. Complete Final Submittal 
2. Favorable bids were received on September 26, IDOT 

Letting 

UPCOMING WORK 

1. Project deferred. 

WPD ACTION/APPROVALS 

None at this time.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SCHEDULE  

Project Schedule 1.  Engineering Report (35%) 
March 1, 2024 
2.  Preliminary Plans (80%)  
May 10, 2024 
3.  Final Plans July 26, 2024 
4.  IDOT Letting September 20, 
2024 
5.  Anticipated Start of Work – 
Project deferred 

Causes of Delay N/A 

BUDGET 

CMT Contract:  $78,200 
Total Project: $937,778 

Funded with BIL AIG funds: 90% 
Federal, 5% State, 5% Local 

EXTRA WORK ITEMS 

None at this time. 
 

 

100%

PERCENT COMPLETE



 PROJECT PROGRESS REPORT  
 

WAUKEGAN NATIONAL AIRPORT  10 
 

PROJECT WORK AREA 

 

PROJECT Rehabilitate Taxiway D (Design Phase) 

 

CMT NO. 24006512.00 
REPORTING 

PERIOD 
Thru November 7, 2025 

 

PREVIOUS WORK 

1. Completed Final Design Submittal 
2. June 13, 2025 IDOT Letting 

UPCOMING WORK 

1. June 13, 2025 IDOT Letting.  Bids were not within Engineer’s 
estimate.  Additional FAA funding was secured for project.  
Contractor awaiting IDOT award package 

2. Spring 2026 construction start 

WPD ACTION/APPROVALS 

None at this time.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SCHEDULE  

Project Start/Notice to 
Proceed 

November 2024 

Project Schedule 1.  Engineering Report (35%) 
January 10, 2025 
2.  Preliminary Plans (80%)  
March 21, 2025 
3.  Final Plans April 18, 2025 
4.  IDOT Letting June 13, 2025 
5.  Anticipated Start of Work  
May 1, 2026 

Causes of Delay N/A 

BUDGET 

CMT Contract:  $152,500 
Total Project: $2,502,000 

Funded 90% Federal, 5% State, 
5% Local 

EXTRA WORK ITEMS 

None at this time. 
 

 

97%

PERCENT COMPLETE



 PROJECT PROGRESS REPORT  
 

WAUKEGAN NATIONAL AIRPORT  11 
 

 

PROJECT Environmental Assessment – Phase 3 

 

CMT NO. 24006707.00 
REPORTING 

PERIOD 
Thru November 7, 2025 

PREVIOUS WORK 

1. Project Formulation and Funding Coordination  
2. Water Resources Field Work 
3. Forecast and Runway Justification Approval 
4. Submittal of Condensed EA to IDA/FAA 
5. UGN website post of preliminary environmental analysis 

UPCOMING WORK 

1. Addressing Agency review comments 
2. Continued Agency and Stakeholder coordination 

WPD ACTION/APPROVALS 

None at this time. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

BUDGET 

CMT Contract:  $847,505 
Funded 90% State, 10% Local 

EXTRA WORK ITEMS 

CMT is currently tracking over 
budget on this project due to 
delays in the Forecast and Runway 
Length Justification process.  No 
action is being taken at this time, 
as on-going federal changes to the 
NEPA process appear to reduce the 
environmental resources required 
to be reviewed.  These on-going 
changes seem likely to favorably 
impact the project budget.  CMT is 
looking to recoup current overages 
from these changes. 

 

SCHEDULE/DELIVERABLE STATUS 

Project Start/Notice 
to Proceed 

May 2024 

Proposed 
Completion Date 

Second Quarter 2026 

Causes of Delay FAA-related delays to the Forecast 
and Runway Length Justification 
process may require a shift in the 
proposed project completion date. 

75%

PERCENT COMPLETE



 PROJECT PROGRESS REPORT  
 

WAUKEGAN NATIONAL AIRPORT  12 
 

PROJECT EXAMPLE 

 

PROJECT Acquire Snow Removal Equipment 

 

CMT NO. 24007704.00 
REPORTING 

PERIOD 
Thru November 7, 2025 

PREVIOUS WORK 

1. Final Bidding Documents 
2. Bid Opening – Favorable bids received. 
3. Project Award 
4. FAA Buy American Certification 

UPCOMING WORK 

1. Continued FAA and manufacturer coordination 

WPD ACTION/APPROVALS 

None at this time. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

BUDGET 

CMT Contract:  $42,400 
Total Project:  952,400 
Funded with BIL AIG funds: 90% 
Federal, 5% State, 5% Local 

EXTRA WORK ITEMS 

None at this time.   

 

SCHEDULE/DELIVERABLE STATUS 

Project Start/Notice 
to Proceed 

October 2024 

Project Schedule 1.  Preliminary Documents December 
20, 2024 
2.  Final Documents January 6, 2025 
3.  Bid Opening February 5, 2026 
4.  Anticipated Vehicle Delivery 
Winter 2025/2026 

Causes of Delay N/A 

69%

PERCENT COMPLETE



Waukegan Port District

Airport Operations Report

AIRCRAFT OPERATIONS

September 2025 September 2024 % Change YTD 2025 YTD 2024 % Change
Local 916 946 ‐3.2% 7,918 6,844 15.7%
Itinerant 4,039 4,180 ‐3.4% 31,397 30,622 2.5%
Military 27 22 22.7% 181 214 ‐15.4%
Overflights 234 268 ‐12.7% 2,042 2,020 1.1%

Total 5,216 5,416 ‐3.7% 41,538 39,700 4.6%

BASED AIRCRAFT

September 2025 September 2024 September 2023
Single 98 99 95
Twin 10 10 13
Jets 38 38 41
Helicopters 4 4 1

Total 150 151 150

FUEL DELIVERY

September 2025 September 2024 % Change YTD 2025 YTD 2024 % Change
WCAF 60,357 53,824 12.1% 375,917 367,847 2.2%
Stick & Rudder 0 0 NA 19,908 21,934 ‐9.2%

Signature ‐ Jet 148,285 164,487 ‐9.9% 1,059,387 1,163,516 ‐8.9%
Signature ‐ LL 6,969 6,931 0.5% 49,114 62,210 ‐21.1%
White Wing 7,660 15,718 ‐51.3% 85,872 85,679 0.2%

Abbvie 61,592 45,848 34.3% 363,939 375,742 ‐3.1%

Total 284,863 286,808 ‐0.7% 1,954,137 2,076,928 ‐5.9%

CUSTOMS OPERATIONS

September 2025 September 2024 YTD 2025 YTD 2024 % Change
Local 12 7 72 71 1.4%

Itinerant 4 5 60 44 36.4%

SEPTEMBER 2025

11/14/2025, 12:36 PM Airport Ops Report Master ‐ 2025



 
 
 
 

Financial Appendix  
 
 
 

  



 
 

 
 
 

Financial Appendix  
Airport 

 
 

  



2025

Actual Budget
% of 

Budget Last Year % Change Actual Budget
% of 

Budget Last Year % Change
Annual 
Budget

Net Operating Revenue

Revenue

   9210-4060 AV Gas Flowage 976 762 128% 970 1% 9,511 8,690 109% 11,069 -14% 12,000
   9210-4070 Jet Gas Flowage 58,358 53,279 110% 38,068 53% 408,806 392,670 104% 284,957 43% 525,000
   9210-4080 Lease Revenues 94,825 79,042 120% 78,425 21% 980,209 922,201 106% 992,183 -1% 1,185,727
   9210-4085 Security Fees 5,734 4,185 137% 4,505 27% 58,262 56,718 103% 59,091 -1% 69,273
   9210-4090 Percentage of Gross Sales 17,499 7,500 233% 18,671 -6% 92,776 67,500 137% 74,890 24% 90,000
   9210-4100 Fuel Permits 0 0 0 4,000 4,000 100% 4,000 0% 6,000
   9210-4180 Misc Income 0 0 0 0 1,308 0% 2,116 -100% 108,554
Total Revenue 177,392 144,768 123% 140,639 26% 1,553,564 1,453,087 107% 1,428,306 9% 1,996,554
Expenditures
   9210-6290 Real Estate Taxes 0 0 0 7,527 9,000 84% 4,606 63% 9,000
   9210-6400 Office Supplies 0 584 0% 27 -100% 3,491 5,248 67% 2,527 38% 7,000
   9210-6420 Postage Expense 0 0 0 0 0 16 -100% 0
   9210-6650 Business Development 0 750 0% 1,234 -100% 4,737 6,750 70% 7,156 -34% 9,000
   9210-6651 Membership Dues 0 500 0% 548 -100% 4,226 4,500 94% 4,223 0% 6,000
   9210-6670 Uniforms 0 500 0% 901 -100% 1,644 4,500 37% 1,857 -11% 6,000
   9210-6720 Utilities 4,049 6,471 63% 4,034 0% 50,693 58,239 87% 42,199 20% 77,652
   9210-6740 Advertising 0 417 0% 450 -100% 1,350 3,753 36% 1,350 0% 5,004
   9210-6791 Fees 114 250 46% 60 90% 1,216 2,250 54% 452 169% 3,000
Insurance
      9210-6320 General Liability Insurance 0 0 0 26,987 28,104 96% 26,987 0% 28,104
      9210-6321 Auto Insurance 0 0 0 9,745 8,796 111% 8,444 15% 8,796
      9210-6322 Cyber Liability Insurance 0 0 0 1,216 1,260 97% 1,216 0% 1,260
      9210-6323 Directors and Officers Insurance 0 0 0 7,459 3,900 191% 3,744 99% 3,900
      9210-6324 Public Officials Insurance 0 0 0 0 5,352 0% 5,138 -100% 5,352
      9210-6325 Crime Insurance 0 0 0 546 576 95% 546 0% 576
      9210-6326 Pollution Liability Insurance 0 0 0 10,624 10,624 100% 10,624 0% 10,624
      9210-6327 Building Insurance 0 0 0 19,973 23,352 86% 16,821 19% 23,352
Total Insurance 0 0 0 0 0 76,550 81,964 8 73,520 4% 81,964
   Maintenance Accounts
      9210-6460 Vehicle Operation & Maintenance 7,965 8,334 96% 1,866 327% 60,450 74,998 81% 69,392 -13% 100,000
      9210-6540 Airfield Maintenance 14 7,500 0% 8,817 -100% 51,540 67,500 76% 76,031 -32% 90,000
      9210-6600 Building Maintenance 67 3,084 2% 4,835 -99% 15,451 27,748 56% 31,318 -51% 37,000
   Total Maintenance Accounts 8,046 18,918 1 15,518 -48% 127,441 170,246 -100% 176,741 -28% 227,000
   Outside Service Accounts
      9210-6200 Outside Service-Legal 6,535 4,167 157% 3,905 67% 35,884 37,499 96% 39,274 -9% 50,000
      9210-6240 Outside Services-Other 7,315 7,250 101% 8,840 -17% 62,008 65,250 95% 47,780 30% 87,000
      9210-6241 Audits 0 0 0 19,104 19,104 100% 0 22,008
      9210-6242 Engineering Services 0 2,083 0% 2,174 -100% 9,823 18,751 52% 19,707 -50% 25,000
      9210-6260 Outside Services- F3 Management 6,500 6,500 100% 6,500 0% 58,500 58,500 100% 58,537 0% 78,000
      9210-6270 Outside Services- F3 Payroll & Ben 62,536 70,834 88% 59,109 6% 574,964 637,498 90% 550,637 4% 850,000
      9210-6275 Outside Services - Airport Security 1,250 1,250 100% 0 11,250 11,250 100% 0 15,000
      9210-6280 Outside Services- IT 1,129 3,084 37% 118 857% 18,338 27,748 66% 19,464 -6% 37,000
   Total Outside Service Accounts 85,265 95,168 90% 80,646 6% 789,870 875,600 90% 735,400 7% 1,164,008
Total Expenditures 97,474 123,558 79% 103,418 -6% 1,068,745 1,222,050 87% 1,050,047 2% 1,595,628
Net Operating Revenue 79,918 21,210 377% 37,221 115% 484,819 231,037 210% 378,259 28% 400,926

Other Income
   9210-4110 Interest Earned 9,133 4,040 226% 8,895 3% 74,405 33,882 220% 74,609 0% 45,000

   9210-8510 Gain (Loss) on Disposal of Assets 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total Other Income 9,133 4,040 226% 8,895 74,405 33,882 74,609 45,000

Other Expenditures

   9210-6245 Outside Services-FBO Analyses 15,319 7,250 211% 0 53,727 65,250 82% 0 87,000
   9210-6820 Interest Expense (NBH) 0 0 0 10,117 9,162 110% 10,117 0% 18,324

2510-0000 NBH Bond 0 0 23,371 24,324 96% 23,371 0% 48,648
   9210-6930 Capital Spending-UGN Funded 0 47,882 0% 29,001 -100% 106,662 430,932 25% 393,664 -73% 574,578
Total Other Expenditures 15,319 55,132 28% 29,001 193,877 529,668 427,152 728,550

Net Other Income -6,186 -51,092 12% -20,106 -119,472 -495,786 -352,543 -683,550

Total 73,732 -29,882 -247% 17,115 365,347 -264,749 25,716 -282,624

Recap of Month Activity by Type
Total Income 177,392 144,768 123% 140,639 26% 1,553,564 1,453,087 107% 1,428,306 9% 1,996,554
Total Expenses 97,474 123,558 79% 103,418 -6% 1,068,745 1,222,050 87% 1,050,047 2% 1,595,628
Net Operating Income (Loss) 79,918 21,210 377% 37,221 115% 484,819 231,037 210% 378,259 28% 400,926
Net Other Income -6,186 -51,092 12% -20,106 -69% -119,472 -495,786 24% -352,543 -66% -683,550
Total Month Activity 73,732 -29,882 -247% 17,115 331% 365,347 -264,749 -138% 25,716 1321% -282,624

Current Month
September 30, 2025

Waukegan National Airport
Budget vs. Actuals: FY2025 Budget - FY25 P&L 

Year-To-Date
September 30, 2025



 
 
 
 

Financial Appendix  
Customs 

 
 

  



2025

Actual Budget % of Budget Last Year % Change Actual Budget % of Budget Last Year % Change
Annual 
Budget

Net Operating Income

Income

   9210-4110 Interest Earned 235  125  131  80% 1,659  1,125  1,143  -100% 1,500  

   9210-4217 Custom Service for Contract Labor - Prepaid 0  0  0  . 270,429  270,000  100% 202,801  33% 360,000  

   9210-4220 Customs Service for Contract Labor Overtime 3,900  2,625  149% 2,750  42% 34,450  23,625  146% 20,900  65% 31,500  

   9210-4250 International Garbage Fee 2,405  2,800  86% 3,145  -24% 18,685  25,200  74% 18,685  0% 33,600  

Total Income $                6,540  $                5,550  118% $                6,026  9% $            325,224  $            319,950  102% $    243,529  34% $    426,600  

Expenses

   9210-6100 Contract Labor Customs Building 0  0  0  239,456  272,873  88% 237,281  1% 272,873  

   9210-6150 Contract Labor Customs Building - Overtime 935  2,625  36% 1,999  -53% 19,070  23,625  81% 17,478  9% 31,500  

   9210-6240 Outside Services 720  1,352  53% 763  -6% 11,991  12,160  99% 9,840  22% 16,216  

   9210-6280 Outside Services - Information Technology 0  363  0% 823  -100% 40,053  38,911  103% 20,903  92% 40,000  

   9210-6400 Office supplies 0  50  0% 0  0  450  0% 0  600  

   9210-6600 Building maintenance 280  1,000  28% 280  0% 5,080  9,000  56% 3,900  30% 12,000  

   9210-6700 Customs Service Expense - Garbage Fee 2,090  2,800  75% 2,655  -21% 16,515  25,200  66% 17,750  -7% 33,600  

   9210-6720 Utilities 543  1,138  48% 543  0% 9,196  10,236  90% 8,712  6% 13,650  

Total Expenses $                4,567  $                9,328  49% $                7,063  -35% $            341,362  $            392,455  87% $    315,864  8% $    420,439  

Net Operating Income $                1,973  -$              3,778  -52% -$              1,037  90% -$            16,138  -$            72,505  22% -$     72,335  90% $        6,161  

Non Operating Income

   9210-4775 U.S. Customs Building Rent Revenue 7,149  7,149  100% 7,149  0% 105,880  105,881  100% 105,880  0% 139,822  

Total Non-Operating Income $                7,149  $                7,149  100% $                7,149  0% $            105,880  $            105,881  100% $    105,880  0% $    139,822  

Debt Obligations

2519-0000 Capital One Bond Principal 0 0 37,098 -100% 37,098 -100% 77,745
   9210-6820 Interest Expense 0  0  0  28,389  27,314  104% 29,088  -2% 54,627  
Total Debt Obligation 0 0 37,098 -100% 28,389 27,314 104% 66,186 -57% 132,372

Capital Budget

   9210-6930 Capital Budget 0  0  0 6,450  0  0 0  
Total Capital Budget 0 0 0 6,450 0 0 0

Recap of Month Activity by Type
Total Income 6,540 5,550 118% 6,026 9% 325,224 319,950 102% 243,529 34% 426,600
Total Expenses 4,567 9,328 49% 7,063 -35% 341,362 392,455 87% 315,864 8% 420,439

Net Operating Income (Loss) 1,973 -3,778 -52% -1,037 -290% -16,138 -72,505 22% -72,335 -78% 6,161
Plus WPDCBSA US Customs Building 7,149 7,149 100% 7,149 0% 105,880 105,881 100% 105,880 0% 139,822

Less debt principal and interest payments 0 0 -37,098 -100% -28,389 -27,314 104% -66,186 -57% -132,372

Less capital budget 0 0 0 -6,450 0 0 0

Total Activity 9,122 3,371 271% -30,986 -129% 54,903 6,062 906% -32,640 -268% 13,611

September 30, 2025 September 30, 2025

Waukegan National Airport  Customs
Budget vs. Actuals: 2024 Budget - FY24 P&L 

Current Month Year-To-Date



 
 
 
 

Financial Appendix  
Harbor 

 
 

  



Sep-25 Budget YTD Sep-24 LY YTD
Income

   401.20 Fuel- Gas 42,395.41  30,000.00  240,897.03 29,002.01 243,336.90

      401.21 Discounts Gas -369.86  0.00  -1,729.44 -209.05 -1,939.78

   Total 401.20 Fuel- Gas $                                     42,025.55  $                                     30,000.00  $239,167.59 $28,792.96 $241,397.12

   402.20 Fuel-Diesel 6,036.30  15,000.00  69,382.22 13,092.39 102,511.38

      402.21 Discount Diesel 0.00  -54.09 -8.95 -58.39

   Total 402.20 Fuel-Diesel $                                       6,036.30  $                                     15,000.00  $69,328.13 $13,083.44 $102,452.99

   403.20 Gift Shop Sales 570.50  700.00  4,468.48 352.61 5,514.20

   404.20 Vending Sales 39.50  0.00  239.50

   405.20 Ice Sales 432.01  0.00  3,522.01 180.00 2,157.00

   406.20 Beverage Sales 118.00  770.00

      406.21 HCB Coffee 0.00  

   Total 406.20 Beverage Sales $                                          118.00  $                                              0.00  $                                         0.00  

   408.20 Lease Revenues 35,587.41  34,676.08  400,193.51 39,584.60 405,339.24

      408.21 Daily Event Fees (Bldg) 0.00  

      409.20 Percentage of Gross Sales 0.00  

   Total 408.20 Lease Revenues $                                     35,587.41  $                                     34,676.08  400,193.51 39,584.60 405,339.24

   410.20 Misc. Income 62.50  3,603.16 235.33 2,865.74

   410.90 Laundry Machines Commission Rev 127.73  127.73 241.20 642.96

   411.20 Interest Earned 2,096.66  500.00  26,223.54 3,770.94 25,005.77

   413.20 Slip Fee Seasonal Income 143,952.63  173,061.38  833,508.83 152,946.13 899,432.32

   419.20 Guest Slip Fees 6,329.82  8,000.00  28,343.38 13,409.41 50,224.85

   421.23 Launch Fees 4,500.00  

      421.20 Launch Fees- Boater Seasonal 200.00  8,550.00 9,230.00

      421.21 Daily Launch Tokens 7,758.75  39,157.63 4,740.00 33,843.16

   Total 421.23 Launch Fees $                                       7,958.75  $                                       4,500.00  $47,707.63 $4,740.00 $43,073.16

   424.20 Permit Fees 0.00  4,300.00 9,550.00

Total Income $                                   245,274.86  $                                   266,499.96  $1,663,814.49 $257,336.62 $1,778,906.79

Cost of Goods Sold

   500.20 Cost of Goods Sold-Ship Store -613.95 -174.33 -174.33

      503.20 COGS-Gift Shop -527.00  560.00  2,492.30 238.04 5,040.48

Waukegan Harbor & Marina
Financials

September 2025



      504.20 COGS-Vending 12.27  69.45

      505.20 COGS-Ice 201.60  1,295.28 96.91 759.02

      506.20 COGS-Beverages 34.08  261.60

      510.20 Shipping, Handling and Service 15.00  554.57 10.44 351.94

   Total 500.20 Cost of Goods Sold-Ship Store -$                                         264.05  $                                          560.00  $4,059.25 $171.06 $5,977.11

   602.20 Cost of Goods Sold- Gas 31,396.63  24,000.00  171,844.92 24,416.77 203,793.93

   602.21 Cost of Goods Sold-Diesel 4,790.67  10,350.00  51,386.04 11,263.74 76,777.09

   Inventory Shrinkage 0.00  0.00

Total Cost of Goods Sold $                                     35,923.25  $                                     34,910.00  $227,290.21 $35,851.57 $286,548.13

Gross Profit $                                   209,351.61  $                                   231,589.96  $1,436,524.28 $221,485.05 $1,492,358.66

Expenses

   614.20 Employee Appreciation 250.00  765.64

   624.20 Outside Services 0.00  

   626.20 Outside Services-Management Fee 6,500.00  6,500.00  58,500.00 6,500.00 58,500.00

   627.20 Outside Services- F3 Marina P/R 68,155.50  65,714.91  493,756.15 76,168.65 420,360.39

   628.20 Outside Services- IT 1,752.37  2,687.00  20,133.92 2,516.50 34,197.53

   629.21 Outside Services-Temp Help 144.00  414.00

   632.20 Outside Service - Property Ins 12,350.40  11,446.93  98,819.66 -3,852.12 108,494.69

   640.20 Office Supplies 914.51  625.00  7,186.94 947.47 4,498.80

   641.20 Janitorial Supplies 1,246.31  1,000.00  10,281.29 1,671.18 9,160.54

   642.20 Postage Expense 0.00  369.00 213.33

   64300 Meals and Entertainment 250.00  

   646.20 Vehicle Operation & Maint 1,152.53  0.00  6,633.81 -1,487.97 2,999.61

   660.20 Building & Grounds Maint. 300.00  2,500.00  8,470.65 2,095.00

      660.21 Security and Access Maintenance 0.00  2,271.91 1,062.00 278.00

      660.25 HVAC 1,000.00  249.00 140.22

      660.30 Tools 1,481.28  0.00  4,795.68 -1,487.97 1,070.22

      660.31 Trash Removal 3,483.86  2,500.00  19,324.93 2,095.00 22,010.20

      660.32 Electrical Repairs 23,706.00  0.00  24,229.60 1,366.24

      660.33 Keys/Lock Repairs 0.00  758.00

      660.34 Roof Flashing 249.38  0.00  249.38

      660.35 Plumbing Repairs 6,418.86  0.00  9,592.83 1,219.75 2,897.99

      660.36 Signage 0.00  2,206.06 507.00 793.49

      660.37 Landscaping and Grounds 1,750.00  2,450.00  13,126.64 436.42 11,233.11

      660.38 Exterminating 325.00  0.00  3,575.00

      660.40 Fire & Life Safety 300.00  3,870.00 4,584.00

      660.42 Dock Maint (Materials) 350.94  2,083.33  16,860.84 572.94 3,843.47



      660.43 Fuel Dock Maintenance 520.00  416.67  1,821.05 420.20

   Total 660.20 Building & Grounds Maint. $                                     38,585.32  $                                     11,250.00  $112,143.50 $9,217.14 $64,132.10

   661.20 Uniforms/ Small Equip-Harbor 677.25  0.00  998.85 125.47

   665.20 Memb, Conf & Education 0.00  654.13 510.00

   665.25 Marina Events 4,705.12  1,000.00  24,269.86 1,806.36 6,379.59

   667.20 Monthly - Yearly OSubscriptions 468.00  1,000.00  5,255.85 1,882.00 5,393.33

   672.20 Utilities 998.90  6,883.25 -29,178.45 -19,834.15

      672.30 Electricity 12,152.49  5,500.00  64,006.90 8,849.16 71,370.73

      672.40 Water and Sewer 729.14  1,000.00  15,666.36 59.37 8,960.48

      672.50 Gas 196.80  1,000.00  4,811.91 171.22 4,183.17

      672.60 Internet 2,371.48  1,800.00  17,170.50

   Total 672.20 Utilities $                                     16,448.81  $                                       9,300.00  $108,538.92 -$20,098.70 $64,680.23

   674.20 Advertising 3,500.00  0.00  9,610.21 5,894.00

   676.20 Promotions 418.27  542.36  3,951.33 107.95 2,195.55

   679.20 Credit Card Service Charge 967.40  200.00  9,273.40 1,710.75 9,842.44

      679.21 Payment Innovator Fees -1,208.79  -1,575.52 -790.11 -8,026.02

   Total 679.20 Credit Card Service Charge -$                                         241.39  $                                          200.00  $7,697.88 $920.64 $1,816.42

   680.20 Cash Short/ Over 0.41  17.51 -1.94 33.65

   69810 Bank Service Charges 167.02  1,077.60 179.74 1,327.25

Total Expenses $                                   156,944.43  $                                   111,766.20  $972,401.46 $77,288.34 $785,283.33

Net Operating Income $                                     52,407.18  $                                   119,823.76  $464,122.82 $144,196.71 $707,075.33

Other Expenses

   638.20 Depreciation Exp-H 73,193.13  73,193.13 658,738.17

   682.20 Interest Expense 14,822.00  14,822.00  153,492.95 100,582.25

   692.20 Capital Budget 0.00  4,392.00 7,706.33

   852.20 Other Expense 0.00  3,400.33 6,000.00

   853.20 Legal Expense 2,122.25  5,833.00  25,767.50 2,415.75 53,565.75

   854.20 Audit Expenses 5,000.00  20,553.50 9,450.00

   855.20 Write Off/Bad Debt 31.39  -68.61 104.75 29,459.43

Total Other Expenses $                                     16,975.64  $                                     98,848.13  $215,080.35 $80,105.63 $865,501.93

Net Other Income -$                                    16,975.64  -$                                    98,848.13  -$215,080.35 -$80,105.63 -$865,501.92

Net Income $                                     35,431.54  $                                     20,975.63  $249,042.47 $64,091.08 -$158,426.59



 
 
 
 
 
 

End of Packet 
 

 


	Airport  Financials - September 2025.pdf
	Airport Budget vs. Actuals

	Customs Financials - September 2025.pdf
	Customs Budget vs Actuals

	Airport Exec Summary Period Ending September 30, 2025 FINAL.pdf
	Accountant Comments

	Customs Exec Summary Period Ending September 30, 2025 Final.pdf
	Accountant Comments

	25.11.19 Final Agenda.pdf
	Call to Order
	Roll Call
	Pledge of Allegiance
	Approval of Remote Participation/Voting
	Chairman Remarks
	Public Comment – (3 minutes per person)
	Adjournment

	25.10.15  Meeting Minutes Final.pdf
	Call to Order
	Chairman Dye called the meeting to order at 4:02 p.m.
	Roll Call
	Pledge of Allegiance
	Approval of Remote Participation/Voting
	Chairman Remarks
	Public Comment – (3 minutes per person)
	On a motion by Member Bach, seconded by Member Jones, the motion was approved on a unanimous roll call vote:
	Aye: Bach, Jones, Petry, Trigg
	Nay:
	Absent: Evers, Veal
	Closed Session
	The Board entered closed session at 4:49 p.m. to discuss pending litigation pursuant to §120/2(c)(11) of the Illinois Open Meetings Act.
	On a motion by Member Bach, seconded by Member Petry, the motion carried by unanimous voice vote.
	At 5:09 p.m., the Board reconvened in open session on a motion by Member Trigg, seconded by Member Jones, approved by unanimous roll call vote.
	Adjournment

	25.10.15  Meeting Minutes Final.pdf
	Call to Order
	Chairman Dye called the meeting to order at 4:02 p.m.
	Roll Call
	Pledge of Allegiance
	Approval of Remote Participation/Voting
	Chairman Remarks
	Public Comment – (3 minutes per person)
	On a motion by Member Bach, seconded by Member Jones, the motion was approved on a unanimous roll call vote:
	Aye: Bach, Jones, Petry, Trigg
	Nay:
	Absent: Evers, Veal
	Closed Session
	The Board entered closed session at 4:49 p.m. to discuss pending litigation pursuant to §120/2(c)(11) of the Illinois Open Meetings Act.
	On a motion by Member Bach, seconded by Member Petry, the motion carried by unanimous voice vote.
	At 5:09 p.m., the Board reconvened in open session on a motion by Member Trigg, seconded by Member Jones, approved by unanimous roll call vote.
	Adjournment




